STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

 The State charged Dalia Dippolito with hiring a hitman to kill her then-

husband.  The hitman was actually an undercover officer from the Boynton Beach 

Police Department (“BBPD”). App. 2.  Prior to trial, the State stipulated that an 

allegation that Ms. Dippolito unsuccessfully attempted to poison her husband would 

be inadmissible.  App. 3.  The trial court accepted the stipulation and independently 

ruled the allegation was inadmissible under section 90.403, Florida Statutes. App. 3.    

 On the final day of the defense’s case, the State announced its intent to renege 

on its stipulation and introduce the poisoning allegation.  Prior to doing so, it did not 

make a “seasonable and affirmative application by formal motion to the court, on 

notice, and supported by affidavit for its withdrawal or revocation,” as required 

under Esch v. Forster, 168 So. 229, 231-32 (Fla. 1936) and Dortch v. State, 137 So. 

3d 1173, 1776 (Fla. 1st DCA 2014).  The trial court nevertheless allowed the State 

to introduce the allegation to impeach its own confidential informant.  App. 3.   

 After the close of evidence, Ms. Dippolito renewed a motion to dismiss the 

charges based on objective entrapment and moved for a judgment of acquittal on 

those grounds.  She relied on the testimony of the State’s confidential informant, 

Mohamed Shihadeh, who testified at trial that the reason he approached BBPD to 

was to report that Ms. Dippolito was the victim of domestic abuse.  Shihadeh, who 

had an intimate relationship with Ms. Dippolito, also testified that (1) BBPD 
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imposed an artificial deadline of seventy-two hours to set up Ms. Dippolito, a 

deadline coincided with the timeframe that the COPS television program was 

filming at the department; (2) BBPD repeatedly threatened him with prosecution if 

he did not set up Ms. Dippolito, which caused him to pressure her to bring the money 

to commit solicitation; (3) BBPD placed surveillance cameras in his car without his 

permission before he ever gave a formal statement, which suggested BBPD was 

manufacturing the solicitation crime; (4) BBPD allowed him to make numerous 

uncontrolled calls with Ms. Dippolito; and (5) BBPD recorded an encounter between 

Shihadeh and Ms. Dippolito eating at Chili’s just before the alleged solicitation, but 

either failed to preserve, destroyed, or never turned over to the defense.   

 When the trial court denied her motion to dismiss, Ms. Dippolito asked to 

present her objective entrapment defense to the jury, “which required the jury to 

determine whether the police conduct was so egregious that it offended notions of 

justice and fairness.”  App. 3.  Citing Clayton v. State, 191 So. 3d 990, 991 (Fla. lst 

DCA 2016), Ms. Dippolito argued that, where an objective entrapment defense rests 

on disputed facts, it presents a mixed question of law and fact that is appropriate for 

resolution by the jury.  She also argued that preventing her from presenting her 

theory of defense to the jury would violate her state and federal constitutional right 

to due process and a trial by impartial jury.  The trial court rejected her request to 

present her theory of defense to the jury.  App. 6. 
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 Ms. Dippolito alternatively asked that the trial court employ a proposed 

special verdict form that contained interrogatories directing the jury to make findings 

on the disputed issues of fact related to her objective entrapment defense.  The trial 

court rejected that request as well.  See App. 7.  The jury convicted her.  

 On appeal, Ms. Dippolito renewed her argument that the trial court violated 

her constitutional rights by not allowing her to present her theory of defense to the 

jury or letting the jury resolve the factual disputes at the heart of her theory of 

defense.  App. 6.  She also argued that the lower court erred in allowing the State to 

renege on its stipulation to exclude the poisoning allegation. 

 The Fourth DCA, on rehearing, assumed that objective entrapment was an 

affirmative defense, but nevertheless concluded that Ms. Dippolito had “no right to 

a jury determination of the issue.”  It reasoned as follows: 

The United States Supreme Court has held that the Fifth and Sixth 

Amendments to the Constitution require that all elements of a crime 

must be submitted to the jury for determination, but for other 

procedures, including affirmative defenses, the Constitution does not 

require a jury determination.  See United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 

506, 511 (1995); see State v. Ellis, 723 So. 2d 187, 189-90 (Fla. 1998).  

Assuming that objective entrapment is an affirmative defense, it clearly 

does not involve the determination of an essential element of the crimes 

with which appellant was charged. 

 

App. 7.  Thus, it concluded that the “matter of objective entrapment is a matter of 

law for the court, and the court determined the issue without assistance from the 

jury.”  App. 7. 
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 With regard to the factual disputes underlying the defense, the Fourth DCA 

opined that it “would not preclude a trial court, in its discretion, from submitting 

discrete factual disputes to a jury in the court’s determination of the due process 

issue of objective entrapment,” yet it ruled that “there is no constitutional obligation 

to submit the claim to the jury.”  App. 7. 

 With regard to the poisoning allegation, the Fourth DCA recognized the State 

“stipulated that it would not admit evidence relating to the poisoning allegation,” but 

it still affirmed the trial court’s admission of the poisoning allegation.  App. 3.  The 

appellate court reasoned that defense counsel “opened the door” for impeachment of 

the State’s confidential informant, App. 4, even though the State never made a 

formal motion to the court, on notice, and supported by affidavit, as required to 

withdraw from its stipulation.  

Petitioner moved to certify conflict with the First DCA based on the holdings 

of Clayton and Dortch and to certify as a question of great public importance 

whether she had the right to present her objective entrapment defense to the jury. 

After the denial of those motions, she invoked this Court’s discretionary jurisdiction. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

This Court held in Esch that, prior to withdrawing from a pretrial stipulation, 

a litigant must make a “seasonable and affirmative application by formal motion to 

the court, on notice, and supported by affidavit for its withdrawal or revocation.”  
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Esch, 168 So. at 231-32.  The First DCA has applied that same rule in the context of 

criminal trials.  Dortch, 137 So. 3d at 1776.  Though the State did not comply with 

this rule, the Fourth DCA affirmed the conviction.  

The Fourth DCA’s decision directly and expressly conflicts with both Esch 

and Dortch.  If this case originated in the First DCA, it would have been reversed 

under Dortch.  Yet, because it arose out of the Fourth DCA, Ms. Dippolito’s 

conviction stands.  Given the frequency with which parties enter into stipulations 

and their salutary effect on the administration of justice, this Court should exercise 

jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between this case and Esch and Dortch.      

The Court should also resolve the conflict between this case and Clayton.  The 

First DCA held in Clayton that, where an objective entrapment defense rests on 

disputed facts, those disputes must be resolved by the jury and not the presiding 

judge.  Clayton, 191 So. 3d at 991.  The Fourth DCA, however, reached the opposite 

conclusion.  In doing so, it announced an unprecedented rule: a trial court—not the 

jury—may decide the viability of a well-founded affirmative defense, even where 

that defense rests on disputed evidence, so long as the affirmative defense does not 

implicate an essential element of the crime.   

That ruling is repugnant to the United States Constitution.  “Only a jury, acting 

on proof beyond a reasonable doubt, may take a person’s liberty.  That promise 

stands as one of the Constitution’s most vital protections against arbitrary 
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government.”  United States v. Haymond, 139 S. Ct. 2369, 2373 (2019) (Gorsuch, 

J.).  The Fourth DCA’s rule conflicts with Clayton, but, more importantly, it runs 

afoul of the Fifth Amendment’s guarantee that no one will be deprived of liberty 

without “due process of law” and the Sixth Amendment’s command that, “in all 

criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, 

by an impartial jury.”  Given the critical importance of these issues, this Court should 

exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and review the decision below. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DECISION 

BELOW EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH 

DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF 

APPEAL. 

 

A. Basis for Invoking Jurisdiction 

 

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction under Article V, section 3(b)(3) of 

the Florida Constitution, and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) 

to review to review “any decision of a district court of appeal” that “expressly and 

directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme 

court on the same question of law.”  Here, the Fourth DCA’s decision on the first 

point is in direct conflict with a decision from this Court—Esch—and a decision 

from the First DCA—Dortch.  The Fourth DCA’s decision on the second point 

directly conflicts with Clayton.  Accordingly, jurisdiction lies in this Court. 
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B.  The Decision Below Directly Conflicts with Esch and Dortch. 

Courts “have long been cognizant of the responsibility of . . . prosecutors 

meticulously to fulfill their promises.”  United States v. Hudson, 609 F.2d 1326, 

1328 (9th Cir. 1979).  Hence, oral stipulations made in court and entered on court 

records are binding.  McGoey v. State, 736 So. 2d at 31, 33-34 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) 

(oral agreement not to elicit pre-Miranda statements to law enforcement).   

In order to obtain relief from a stipulation, a litigant must make a “seasonable 

and affirmative application by formal motion to the court, on notice, and supported 

by affidavit for its withdrawal or revocation.”  Esch, 168 So. at 231-32; see also 

Dortch, 137 So. 3d at 1776 (same). 

Here, the State announced on the very last day of trial, just before Ms. 

Dippolito was poised to call her last witness, that it intended to breach its pretrial 

stipulation and introduce the allegation that Ms. Dippolito sought to poison her 

husband with anti-freeze.  The State never formally moved for relief from its 

stipulation.  It never provided Ms. Dippolito with any advance notice.  And it never 

filed an affidavit that would support a showing of good cause for the decision to 

renege on its promise that it would not introduce the poisoning allegation. 

Although the Fourth DCA suggests that Ms. Dippolito “opened the door” to 

the introduction of this testimony, even if she had done so, the State still needed to 

comply with the requirements set forth under Esch and its progeny before 
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withdrawing from the stipulation.  In affirming Ms. Dippolito’s conviction, the 

Fourth DCA declined to enforce the procedure mandated in Esch and Dortch, and 

its decision therefore directly and expressly conflicts with those cases.  This Court 

should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and resolve that conflict. 

C. The Decision Below Directly Conflicts with Clayton. 

A criminal defendant’s right to have disputed issues of fact resolved by the 

jury implicates “constitutional protections of surpassing importance: the 

proscription of any deprivation of liberty without ‘due process of law,’ Amdt. 14, 

and the guarantee that ‘[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the 

right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury.’” Apprendi v. New Jersey, 

530 U.S. 466, 476-77 (2000).  “Together with the right to vote, those who wrote our 

Constitution considered the right to trial by jury ‘the heart and lungs, the mainspring 

and the center wheel’ of our liberties, without which ‘the body must die; the watch 

must run down; the government must become arbitrary.’” Haymond, 139 S. Ct. at 

2375 (quoting Letter from Clarendon to W. Pym (Jan. 27, 1766), in 1 Papers of John 

Adams 169 (R. Taylor ed. 1977)).   

In this case, Ms. Dippolito asked to present her theory of defense—objective 

entrapment—to the jury.  The trial court denied that request.  She also asked, in the 

alternative, that the jury resolve discrete factual disputes central to her defense, such 

as whether BBPD initially tricked and/or coerced Shihadeh into becoming a 
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confidential informant, whether, as he testified at trial, BBPD compelled him to 

pressure Ms. Dippolito into committing the crime through threats of prosecution, 

whether BBPD imposed a 72-hour deadline on Shihadeh to secure her participation 

so that the sting could be shown on the COPS television program, and whether 

BBPD intentionally destroyed the final conversation between Shihadeh and Ms. 

Dippolito prior to it videotaping her allegedly committing the crime.  If the jury 

resolved those disputes in her favor, it would have all but compelled the dismissal 

of the charges against her.   

Under Clayton, the resolution of such factual disputes presents a jury question.   

This rule is in accordance with the prevailing rule in many other jurisdictions that 

likewise have concluded that objective entrapment is an affirmative defense that may 

be presented to the jury where it rests on disputed issues of fact.  See, e.g., State v. 

Barraza, 591 P.2d 947 (Cal. 1979); State v. Bacon, 319 A.2d 636 (N.H. 1974); State 

v. Mullen, 216 N.W. 2d 375, 382 (Iowa 1974); State v. Pfister, 264 N.W. 2d 694 

(N.D. 1978).    

According to the Fourth DCA, however, Ms. Dippolito had no right to present 

her affirmative defense or submit dispositive factual disputes to the jury for 

resolution.  Although the Fourth DCA cited United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506 

(1995), and State v. Ellis, 723 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1998), neither supports the notion 

that a trial judge can supplant the jury in resolving factual disputes underlying a 
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criminal defendant’s affirmative defense.  In fact, the Supreme Court held the 

opposite in Gaudin and concluded that a defense that presents a mixed question of 

law and fact must be presented to the jury.  Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 512-15.  Moreover, 

in contrast to Ellis, where this Court affirmed a statute that removed the question of 

materiality from the purview of the jury, objective entrapment is a full defense to 

criminal liability that arises not from a statute, but from the due process clause of the 

Florida Constitution. 

As in Gaudin, this case presented a mixed question of law and fact.  Whether 

law enforcement engaged in the impermissible techniques that the confidential 

informant described is a question of fact.  Whether those techniques were so 

egregious that they offended notions of justice and fairness is a question of law.  

Under Gaudin, that mixed question of law and fact should have gone to the jury.  

Hence, the Fourth DCA’s decision not only conflicts with Clayton, it clashes with 

the most important right guaranteed to a criminal defendant—the right to a trial by 

an impartial jury.   

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, this Court should exercise its discretionary 

jurisdiction over this case.