STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

 The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of 

the lower tribunal. Dippolito v. State, --- So. 3d ---, 2019 WL 

2363498 (Fla. 4th DCA June 5, 2019) (See attached appendix).  

In her first issue on appeal, Dippolito argues 

the court improperly allowed the State to 

introduce evidence that she told her lover 

that she had previously tried to poison her 

husband with antifreeze. Questions about the 

admissibility of evidence are within the 

discretion of the trial judge, as limited by 

the rules of evidence. Nardone v. State, 798 

So.2d 870, 874 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). While she 

contends that this court found the testimony 

inadmissible in Dippolito I, we did not 

expressly decide that issue. There, the 

defense argued that the jury venire had been 

tainted because they had all heard one juror 

say that she had heard Dippolito had attempted 

to poison her husband. We ruled that the trial 

court erred by failing to strike the jury 

panel after hearing the allegation. Dippolito 

I, 143 So.3d at 1085. We did not rule that the 

evidence could not be admitted under any 

circumstances. 

 

When ruling on the pre-trial motion in limine 

regarding the poisoning, the court notified 

the parties that the ruling was subject to 

change if something occurred during the trial 

to cause the judge to rethink the earlier 

ruling. Something did occur during trial to 

change the ruling—the defense elicited 

testimony from the lover that he didn't 

believe that appellant actually wanted to kill 

her husband. Defense counsel thus “opened the 

door” for impeachment of the lover with 

evidence that appellant had told him of prior 

attempts to kill her husband. As the court 

explained in Ramirez v. State, 739 So.2d 568, 

579 (Fla. 1999): 

 

As an evidentiary principle, the 

concept of “opening the door” allows 

the admission of otherwise 

inadmissible testimony to “qualify, 
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explain, or limit” testimony or 

evidence previously admitted. 

Tompkins v. State, 502 So.2d 415, 

419 (Fla. 1986); see Huff v. State, 

495 So.2d 145, 150 (Fla. 1986); 

Blair v. State, 406 So.2d 1103, 1106 

(Fla. 1981). 

 

The concept of “opening the door” is 

“based on considerations of fairness 

and the truth-seeking function of a 

trial.” Bozeman v. State, 698 So.2d 

629, 631 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). 

 

Here, we conclude that the court did not abuse 

its discretion in admitting the evidence of 

appellant's earlier attempt to poison her 

husband. That evidence was necessary to limit 

the lover's testimony on direct. It also 

explains why the lover initially approached 

the police—because he did actually believe 

appellant was going to kill her husband. 

 

* * * 

  

Relatedly, appellant contends that the court 

erred in refusing to submit her objective 

entrapment defense to the jury. The appellant 

had already moved to dismiss based upon 

objective entrapment, and the trial court held 

an evidentiary hearing and denied the motion 

based upon the court's thorough review of the 

evidence. 

 

Objective entrapment is a matter of law for 

the court to decide. See Cruz v. State, 465 

So.2d 516, 521 (Fla. 1985). Appellant points 

to Delice v. State, 878 So.2d 465 (Fla. 4th 

DCA 2004), for the proposition that the 

defense should be submitted to the jury, but 

Delice does not go that far. In Delice, the 

defendant claimed that a confidential 

informant raped her, causing her to fear the 

CI and making her susceptible to the CI's 

inducements. Id. at 467. The opinion states, 

“With respect to objective entrapment, we find 

Delice's allegation of rape to be 

unsubstantiated and believe this to be a jury 

question.” Id. at 468. At the most, this would 

permit a trial court to submit discrete 
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factual disputes to the jury, but the ultimate 

decision of whether the conduct of law 

enforcement constitutes objective entrapment 

remains for the court, not a jury, to decide. 

Moreover, there is no indication in the 

opinion that the court had already determined 

the factual issues and denied the objective 

entrapment claim on its merits prior to trial, 

as occurred in this case. 

 

The supreme court has clearly stated, both in 

Cruz and again in Munoz v. State, 629 So.2d 90 

(Fla. 1993), that objective entrapment is a 

question of law for the court. In Munoz, the 

court again explained that conduct of law 

enforcement which violates due process can 

constitute entrapment, which is a decision 

made by a judge not a jury, because it is an 

affront to the judicial system, regardless of 

its implications to the individual defendant. 

Objective entrapment does not involve elements 

of a crime but focuses on the due process 

rights of all citizens to be free of egregious 

police conduct. “While we must not tie law 

enforcement's hands in combatting crime, there 

are instances where law enforcement's conduct 

cannot be countenanced and the courts will not 

permit the government to invoke the judicial 

process to obtain a conviction.” Id. at 98 

(quoting State v. Williams, 623 So.2d 462, 465 

(Fla. 1993)). “The principle of due process 

imposes upon the courts ‘the responsibility to 

conduct “an exercise of judgment upon the 

whole course of the proceedings in order to 

ascertain whether they offend [the] canons of 

decency and fairness ....” ’ ” Soohoo v. 

State, 737 So.2d 1108, 1110-11 (Fla. 4th DCA 

1999)(quoting Williams, 623 So.2d at 465). 

Even if there were disputed issues of fact, 

the trial court resolved those issues on the 

motion to dismiss filed by the appellant and 

determined that law enforcement's conduct was 

not so outrageous as to offend due process 

principles. See Blanco, 896 So.2d at 902 

(reversing a trial court's dismissal of 

charges on objective entrapment grounds where 

there was a disputed issue of fact between the 

defendant and the State, and noting that even 

if the defendant's factual allegations were 

assumed as true, the law enforcement's conduct 
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was not so egregious as to require dismissal 

of the charges). 

 

The United States Supreme Court has held that 

the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the 

Constitution require that all elements of a 

crime must be submitted to the jury for 

determination, but for other procedures, 

including affirmative defenses, the 

Constitution does not require a jury 

determination. See United States v. Gaudin, 

515 U.S. 506, 511, 115 S.Ct. 2310, 132 L.Ed.2d 

444 (1995); see State v. Ellis, 723 So.2d 187, 

189-90 (Fla. 1998). Assuming that objective 

entrapment is an affirmative defense, it 

clearly does not involve the determination of 

an essential element of the crimes with which 

appellant was charged. Therefore, there is no 

right to a jury determination of the issue. 

 

The matter of objective entrapment is a matter 

of law for the court, and the court determined 

the issue without assistance from the jury. We 

find no mandatory requirement that the issue 

be submitted to the jury for resolution. While 

we would not preclude a trial court, in its 

discretion, from submitting discrete factual 

disputes to a jury in the court's 

determination of the due process issue of 

objective entrapment, we hold that there is no 

constitutional obligation to submit the claim 

to the jury. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 The instant opinion does not “expressly and directly” conflict 

with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same 

question of law.  Petitioner fails to establish conflict 

jurisdiction between the Fourth District’s opinion in Dippolito v. 

State, --- So. 3d ---, 2019 WL 2363498 (Fla. 4th DCA June 5, 2019)  

and the decisions in Esch v. Forster, 168 So. 229 (Fla. 1936), 

Dortch v. State, 137 So.3d 1173 (Fla. 1st DCA 2014), and Clayton v. 

State, 191 So.3d 990 (Fla. 1st DCA 2016), thus, discretionary 

jurisdiction for review is not warranted. The well-reasoned, 

exhaustive decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal presents 

a case in which this Court should respect the role of the District 

Courts of Appeal as the courts of last resort in Florida.  

Therefore, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary 

jurisdiction where Petitioner has failed to identify and 

demonstrate any credible basis for this Court to revisit the Fourth 

District’s opinion. 
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ARGUMENT 

ISSUE ONE 

WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL 

DECISION IN DIPPOLITO V. STATE, 2019 WL 

2363498 (FLA. 4TH DCA JUNE 5, 2019), EXPRESSLY 

AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S 

DECISIONS IN ESCH V. FORSTER, 168 SO. 229 

(FLA. 1936), DORTCH V. STATE, 137 SO.3D 1173 

(FLA. 1ST DCA 2014), AND CLAYTON V. STATE, 191 

SO.3D 990 (FLA. 1ST DCA 2016)? [RESTATED] 

I. Standard of Review: 

 Under the Florida Constitution, article V, section 3(b)(3), 

this Court has the authority to review a decision of a district 

court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a 

decision of this Court or another district court of appeal. 

 This Court has identified two basic forms of decisional 

conflict which properly justify the exercise of jurisdiction under 

section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution.  Either (1) where an 

announced rule of law conflicts with other appellate expressions of 

law, or (2) where a rule of law is applied to produce a different 

result in a case which involves "substantially the same controlling 

facts as a prior case. . . ."  Nielsen v. City of Sarasota, 117 

So.2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960).  The standard is direct and express 

conflict; not misapplication of the law.  See Knowles v. State, 848 

So.2d 1055, 1059 (Fla. 2003)(Wells, J. dissenting)(neither the 

concept nor words “misapplication jurisdiction” appear in Article 

V, Sec. 3(b), Fla. Const.). 
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II. Argument: 

 The issue of the Court’s jurisdiction is a “threshold matter 

that must be addressed” before the Court can reach the merits of 

the issue. In Re Holder, 945 So.2d 1130, 1134 (Fla. 2006). The 

rationale for limiting this Court's jurisdiction is the recognition 

that district courts "are courts primarily of final appellate 

jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts 

of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the 

general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of 

justice than that which the system was designed to remedy."  

Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356, 1358 (Fla. 1980). 

 Furthermore, in order for this Court to exercise its 

discretionary jurisdiction based on express or direct conflict, the 

conflict must appear on the face of the allegedly conflicting 

opinions. Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).  As this 

Court stated in Reaves: 

The only facts relevant to our decision to 

accept or reject such petitions [based on 

alleged conflict] are those facts contained 

within the four corners of the decisions 

allegedly in conflict. As we explain in the 

text above, we are not permitted to base our 

conflict jurisdiction on a review of the 

record or on facts recited only in dissenting 

opinions. Thus, it is pointless and misleading 

to include a comprehensive recitation of facts 

not appearing in the decision below, with 

citations to the record, as petitioner 

provided here.  

Id. at 830, n3. 
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a. Petitioner has not established direct and express conflict 
with Esch and Dortch 

 Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the decision in this case 

does not conflict with either Esch or Dortch. 

 First, this case does not conflict with Esch as that case 

concerned a stipulation between parties prescribing the issues on 

which the case was to be tried and the Esch court actually 

distinguished between stipulations which merely eliminate a single 

issue as occurred in Dippolito. Esch, 168 So. at 231.   

 Contrary to Petitioner's assertions, this case also does not 

conflict with Dortch.  Dortch involved a stipulation entered into 

concerning the presentation of evidence and sentencing. Dortch, 137 

So.3d 1174.  The parties agreed that the State could introduce 

certain evidence without the forensic expert having to testify in 

order to establish a predicate for its admission at trial. Id.  The 

stipulation also stated that if the State did use any evidence at 

trial then Dortch's sentences would be concurrent with a sentence 

imposed in another case. Id.  Also, Dortch involved the State 

attempting to unilaterally nullifying a stipulation. Id. at 1176.  

The trial court never formally authorized withdrawal and the State 

did not establish good cause for the withdrawal. Id.   

 In this case, the State agreed that it would not present 

evidence that Dippolito attempted to poison her husband. Dippolito, 

at *2.  The trial court agreed, but informed the parties that the 

ruling was subject to change depending on what occurred at trial. 

Id. at *3.  When Petitioner opened the door, the trial court could 
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reevaluate its prior ruling. See Luce v. United States, 469 U.S. 

38, 41-42 (1984)(“The ruling is subject to change when the case 

unfolds.... Indeed even if nothing unexpected happens at trial, the 

district judge is free ... to alter a previous in limine ruling.”); 

Donley v. State, 694 So.2d 149, 150 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)( A judge's 

pretrial ruling on a motion in limine is tentative).  Here, the 

trial court agreed with the State that the door had been opened and 

that the State could now introduce this evidence as impeachment.  

Accordingly, this case does not directly and expressly conflict 

with Dortch.  Consequently, there is no justification for this 

Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the 

decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. 

b. Petitioner has not established direct and express conflict 
with Clayton 

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the decision in this case 

does not conflict with Clayton with regards to Petitioner's request 

for a special jury instruction on objective entrapment. 

Clayton involved a challenge to an order denying a motion to 

dismiss where Clayton claimed law enforcement objectively entrapped 

him. Clayton, 191 So.3d at 990-91.  The First District Court of 

Appeal only found that the evidence conflicted in material ways and 

that it was premature to make a decision on the motion to dismiss. 

Id. at 991.    

In this case, Petitioner challenged the trial court's denial 

of her request for a special jury instruction on objective 

entrapment.  Clayton does not involve jury instructions on 
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objective entrapment.  Clayton additionally does not address any 

issues with regards to due process.  The Clayton court determined 

only that the facts were not settled.  Here, the trial court denied 

Petitioner's motion to dismiss based on objective entrapment and 

already determined the factual issues.  The trial court found that 

there was no egregious police conduct.  Petitioner fails to cite a 

case on these same set of facts as this case that are in express 

and direct conflict with her case. 

Furthermore, Petitioner ignores the Fourth District Court of 

Appeal's reliance on cases from this Court Cruz v. State, 465 So.2d 

516 (Fla. 1985) and Munoz v. State, 629 So.2d 90 (Fla. 1993), which 

both state that objective entrapment is a question of law for the 

court.   

 In conclusion, the law is clear that if the purportedly 

conflicting cases are distinguishable in their controlling factual 

elements, then no conflict jurisdiction exists. Kyle v. Kyle, 139 

So.2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962); Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 

So.2d 950 (Fla. 1983)(where case was before this Court on apparent 

conflict, but was distinguishable on its facts, this Court would 

discharge jurisdiction).  Simply stated, conflict jurisdiction does 

not exist over a case when it is factually distinguishable from the 

case with which it allegedly conflicts.  Ackers v. State, 614 So.2d 

494, 495 (Fla. 1993).  Therefore, Petitioner has failed to 

establish a basis upon which this Court can exercise its 

discretionary jurisdiction. 
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CONCLUSION 

Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court 

deny review in that there is no “express and direct” conflict 

jurisdiction and no other valid legal grounds for discretionary 

jurisdiction to be exercised by the Court.